RECEIVED

Apr 22 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001996

Raghu Athimoolam and Irene Athimoolam,.....Respondents,

v.

Meritage Homes of South Carolina, Inc.....Appellant.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

David S. Cobb
TURNER PADGET
Post Office Box 22129
Charleston, South Carolina 29413-2129
Direct: (843) 576-2803
Fax: (843) 577-1629
dcobb@turnerpadget.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

April 22, 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err when the trial court did not vacate the improper second arbitration award after the trial court determined the Arbitrator lacked authority to modify the first arbitration award?
- II. Did the arbitrator and trial court err by not imposing sanctions against Respondents, who intentionally disclosed confidential settlement information from a mediation to the Arbitrator after the first award?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit is a construction defects claim involving a house located at 116 Ariel Way in Easley, South Carolina. Respondents (Raghu Athimoolam and Irene Athimoolam) filed a Summons and Complaint against Meritage Homes of South Carolina, Inc. (“Meritage”) with the Anderson County Court of Common Pleas on February 24, 2017. Complaint. Appellant moved to stay the litigation and to compel arbitration pursuant to terms of the New Home Purchase Agreement between the parties that compelled arbitration pursuant to the terms of the contract and the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”). Motion filed April 6, 2017. By consent order filed August 30, 2017, the parties agreed to stay the litigation and to compel arbitration pursuant to the terms of the sales contract and the FAA. Order filed August 30, 2017.

On February 11, 2020, Meritage filed an Answer to Amended Complaint and Third-Party Complaint that named various subcontractors and vendors implicated by the Athimoolams’ claims. Meritage’s Answer to Amended Complaint and Third-Party Complaint.¹ Ultimately, Meritage settled its claims against the subcontractors, who were dismissed from the proceedings by a Stipulation of Dismissal filed July 12, 2023. Stipulation of Dismissal of Subcontractors. The Athimoolams’ claims against Meritage proceeded to an arbitration hearing, which was conducted by Becky Laffitte on September 21-22, 2023. The Arbitrator issued the Award on October 4, 2023 by

¹ The trial court’s Consent Order Allowing Answer and Third-Party Complaint filed on February 11, 2020 lifted the previous stay to allow for the filing of the pleading, which brought the implicated subcontractors and vendors into the proceedings. Order filed February 11, 2020.

email to the attorneys for the parties. October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award (“Arbitration Award”). Shortly before that publication, the Arbitrator filed the “Proof of ADR” with the Anderson County Clerk of Court on October 4, 2023, which stated “Order following arbitration will be issued on or before October 4, 2023.” October 4, 2023 ADR filing.

The 21-page October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award included a cover letter in which the Arbitrator stated she based “the Order ... on the testimony and evidence presented” at the September 21-22, 2023 arbitration hearing. Id. The Arbitrator awarded Athimoolams Fifty-One Thousand Four Hundred Thirteen and 88/100 Dollars (\$51,413.88). Id.

The Athimoolams objected to the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award and submitted a motion to reconsider to the Arbitrator on October 16, 2023. Athimoolams’ October 16, 2023 Motion. The Athimoolams then submitted a “supplemental memorandum” and documents on November 22, 2023. Athimoolams’ November 22, 2023 Memorandum. Meritage filed responsive memoranda on October 30, 2023 (Meritage’s October 30, 2023 Memorandum) and January 5, 2024 (Meritage’s January 5, 2024 Memorandum) opposing any alteration of the October 4, 2023 First Arbitration Award.

The Arbitrator then completely changed the award and gave the Athimoolams Three Hundred Twenty Thousand Nine Hundred Seventeen and 63/100 Dollars (\$320,917.63) by order filed January 23, 2024. Second Arbitration Award. In response, Meritage filed a “Motion to Vacate the January 23, 2024 Arbitration Award and Motion to Reinstate the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award” on February 2, 2024. Meritage’s February 2, 2024 Motion. Meritage asked the trial court for an order (a) vacating the purported January 23, 2024 Arbitration Award; (b) ruling the Arbitrator lacked subject matter jurisdiction to vacate or modify the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award; (c) sanctioning Athimoolams for intentionally violating the ADR Rules after the Arbitrator issued the October 4, 2023 award; and (d) reinstating the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award. Id.

Judge Scott Sprouse denied the motion by order filed October 25, 2024.

October 25, 2024 Order. Thereafter, Meritage filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, on November 4, 2024. Meritage’s November 4, 2024 Motion. Judge Sprouse denied that motion by order filed on November 6, 2024. November 6, 2024 Order.

Meritage then filed this appeal of the orders by Judge Sprouse filed on October 25, 2024 and November 6, 2024 and concerning the second arbitration award on January 23, 2024. Meritage received notice of the filed order denying its Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion on November 6, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(a) and 9 U.S.C. §§ 10-11 provide the basis for a court to vacate an arbitration award in this matter. “An Arbitrator’s award may only be vacated when the arbitrator exceeds his or her powers and/or manifestly disregards or perversely misconstrues the law.” Gissel v. Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). “[M]anifest disregard is an exacting standard, but it is not insurmountable.” C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown, 403 S.C. 53, 58, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The matter between the Athimoolams and Meritage was submitted to binding arbitration to be conducted pursuant to the FAA. The “Consent Order Staying Case and Compelling Arbitration” for this matter was agreed to by both parties and filed with this Court on August 30, 2017. The Athimoolams have never disputed that the FAA did not apply to the dispute. The arbitration order, in fact, specifically stated that “Athimoolams agree that this action should be stayed and arbitration compelled pursuant to the terms of the [Construction] Agreement and the FAA.” August 30, 2017 Order. Further, the “New Home Purchase Agreement” (“Contract”) between Athimoolams and Meritage, which was Exhibit 1 at the arbitration between the parties, specifically stated at the top of the first page:

THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO MANDATORY ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT AND IF THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT IS INAPPLICABLE, THE UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT SECTION 15-48-10 ET SEQ., CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED.

Contract.

Both parties used expert testimony at the September 2023 arbitration to advance their respective positions. Meritage contested the vast majority of the alleged defect claims and the amount needed to repair any defective condition. After hearing the testimony and reviewing the evidence, the Arbitrator awarded the Athimoolams Fifty-One Thousand Four Hundred Thirteen and 88/100 Dollars (\$51,413.88). The “Proof of ADR” filed on October 4, 2023 stated “Order following arbitration will be issued on or before October 4, 2023.” October 4, 2023 ADR filing. The Arbitrator then emailed the Arbitration Award, which included a cover letter to the award in which the Arbitrator stated she based “the Order ... on the testimony and evidence presented” at the September 21-22, 2023 arbitration hearing. October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award.

The Athimoolams filed a motion to reconsider the Arbitration Award on October 16, 2023 and supplemental memorandum and documents on November 22, 2023. Athimoolams’ October 16, 2023 Motion and Athimoolams’ November 22, 2023 Memorandum. The Athimoolams argued:

1. The Award makes numerous finding that are completely unsupported by the evidence and are based on assumptions of defense counsel;
2. The Award is fundamentally flawed because of fundamental errors with respect to applicable law and even the burden of proof;
3. The Award reflects a flagrant disregard of uncontroverted evidence, including expert testimony; and

4. The errors reflect above reflect an improper partiality towards Meritage which justifies reconsideration of the Award or vacating the Award in its entirety.

Id. As part of the motion, the Athimoolams also submitted the following argument:

VIII. The Arbitrator's Award is Erroneous, and Her Impartiality is Established by Meritage's Settlement with its Subcontractors.

As the Arbitrator is aware, this case was commenced in Circuit Court and arbitrated between Meritage and Plaintiffs by agreement. In Circuit Court, Meritage asserted indemnity claims against the Subcontractor Defendants to recover any sums Meritage was required to pay Plaintiffs arising from the faulty work of the Subcontractor Defendants. In reliance of the reports and testimony of Plaintiffs' experts, including Clements and Schauder, Meritage pursued claims against those Subcontractor Defendants, securing settlements from the Subcontractor Defendants totaling \$350,000.00.

To be clear: The testimony and opinions of Plaintiffs, and their experts, which the Arbitrator heard at arbitration and blithely disregarded at the request of Meritage's counsel, is the same evidence that allowed Meritage to recover \$350,000.00 from its subcontractors.

Id. The Athimoolams knew about the settlement because those funds were offered to them as part of the mediation process conducted before the arbitration. Such information was confidential pursuant to the rules applicable to ADR in this state.

Meritage opposed that motion and argued the items that are raised by this appeal. Meritage's October 30, 2023 Memorandum and Meritage's January 5, 2024 Memorandum. Essentially, Meritage argued that the arbitrator lacked authority under the FAA and South Carolina to change the original arbitration award based on the Athimoolams' arguments and that the Athimoolams' "intentional and blatant violation of the confidentiality provision of the applicable South Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules by including in their current motion the specific amount of the settlement between Meritage and its subcontractors should not and cannot be tolerated." Id.

On January 23, 2024, the Arbitrator issued a second award of Three Hundred Twenty Thousand Nine Hundred Seventeen and 63/100 Dollars (\$320,917,63) by order filed January 23, 2024. Meritage then filed a "Motion to Vacate the January 23, 2024 Arbitration Award and Motion to Reinstate the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award" on February 2, 2024. Meritage's February 2, 2024 Motion. Meritage asked the trial court for an order (a) vacating the purported January 23, 2024 Arbitration Award; (b) ruling the Arbitrator lacked subject matter jurisdiction to vacate or modify the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award; (c) sanctioning Athimoolams for intentionally violating the ADR Rules after the Arbitrator issued the October 4, 2023 award; and (d) reinstating the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award. Id.

Meritage argued the Arbitrator erred by (1) concluding the FAA did not apply; (2) by improperly modifying the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award because none of the circumstances allowing the alteration of the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award existed under the FAA or under the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act; (3) the Athimoolams' motion for reconsideration did not meet the Arbitration Rules and Comprehensive Procedures of the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services ("JAMS"), as mandated by the contract between the parties; and (4) not sanctioning Athimoolams for the intentional and blatant violation of the confidentiality provision (Rule 8) of the South Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules by including with their motion for reconsideration the specific dollar amount of the prior confidential settlement between Meritage and its subcontractors. Id.

Judge Sprouse held a hearing on August 14, 2024 and then issued an Order on October 25, 2024 that denied Meritage’s motion. October 25, 2024 Order. Judge Sprouse found that the Arbitrator did not meet the statutory grounds to modify the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award, but that he was restrained in vacating or modifying the January 23, 2024 second award. Id. Meritage timely filed the Rule 59(e) motion, in which it argued the trial court erred by (1) not vacating the January 23, 2024 second award after finding that the Arbitrator lacked the authority to modify the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award (2) concluding that the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award had to be filed with the Clerk of Court in order to be considered an official arbitration award; and (3) not assessing sanctions because of the Athimoolams’ violation of the confidentiality provision (Rule 8) of the South Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules by including the specific dollar amount of the prior confidential settlement between Meritage and its subcontractors. Rule 59(e) Motion. Judge Sprouse denied that motion, and this appeal followed. The Athimoolams did not appeal the determination that the Arbitrator’s modification of the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award was improper because it did not comply with the statutory requirements to modify an arbitration award.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VACATE THE SECOND ARBITRATION AWARD ISSUED ON JANUARY 23, 2024 AFTER THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED THE ARBITRATOR LACKED AUTHORITY TO MODIFY THE FIRST ARBITRATION AWARD ISSUED ON OCTOBER 4, 2023.

The trial court correctly ruled the Arbitrator lacked authority under the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-100 et seq.) to modify the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award; however, the trial court erred when it determined that the court did not have the ability to vacate the improper second arbitration award. South Carolina courts have reversed arbitrator’s decisions when the decision constituted a “manifest disregard of the law” because the arbitrator exceeded the arbitrator’s powers. C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown, 403 S.C. 53, 742 S.E.2d 359 (2013)

(citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130 and Gissel v. Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 676 S.E.2d 320 (2009)). Clearly, the arbitrator in this matter “exceeded her powers” in contravention of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(3) by modifying an arbitration award using factors that did not meet the required statutory grounds defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-100. Once the trial court found the violation of that section, the trial court should have vacated the second award pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(3) and/or the applicable case law.

In C-Sculptures, LLC, that court noted “[a]n arbitrator’s ‘manifest disregard of the law,’ as a basis for vacating an arbitration award occurs when the arbitrator knew of a governing legal principle yet refused to apply it.” Id., 742 S.E.2d at 360. See also Waldo v. Cousins, 442 S.C. 662, 901 S.E.2d 276 (2024) (vacating arbitration award). Here, as noted by the trial court, the arbitrator clearly disregarded the mandates of South Carolina law and the FAA.

In addition, at a minimum, the second arbitration award also violated the provisions of the FAA. The parties agreed the FAA applied to the matter, as evidenced by the Consent Order referring the case to arbitration. The FAA does not allow an arbitrator to modify an award--only a court of competent jurisdiction can do that in certain, very limited circumstances. Here, the Athimoolams’ motion for reconsideration of the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award and the second award did not meet the FAA requirements, particularly the provisions of 9 U.S.C. §§ 10-11, to warrant alteration of the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award. These are jurisdictional requirements, and the trial court erred by not vacating the second award pursuant to the terms of the FAA.

9 U.S.C. §10(a) provides that an arbitration award may be vacated by the court (not an arbitrator) only under the following circumstances:

1. where the award was procured by corruption, fraud, or undue means;
2. where there was evident partiality or corruption in the arbitrators, or either of them;
3. where the arbitrators were guilty of misconduct in refusing to

postpone the hearing, upon sufficient cause shown, or in refusing to hear evidence pertinent and material to the controversy; or of any other misbehavior by which the rights of any party have been prejudiced; or

4. where the arbitrators exceeded their powers, or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual, final, and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made.

Further, 9 U.S.C. §11 provides an arbitration award may be modified or corrected by the court (not an arbitrator) only under the following circumstances:

- (a) Where there was an evident material miscalculation of figures or an evident material mistake in the description of any person, thing, or property referred to in the award.
- (b) Where the arbitrators have awarded upon a matter not submitted to them, unless it is a matter not affecting the merits of the decision upon the matter submitted.
- (c) Where the award is imperfect in matter of form not affecting the merits of the controversy.

None of those factors apply to these facts. Thus, the Arbitrator lacked the authority to modify the October 4, 2023 award under the FAA. Moreover, any “modified” arbitration award after the October 4, 2023 award would be subject to vacatur under the FAA, more specifically, 9 USC § 10(a)(4). In fact, this exact issue was examined by the Fifth Circuit in Smith v. Transport Workers Union of America, AFL-CIO Air Transport Local 556 374 F.3d 372 (5th Cir. 2004).

Therein, an arbitration award was issued to the plaintiff but “[q]uestions about taxation of additional costs and the arbitration panel's authority to modify its initial award gave rise to this controversy. The arbitral panel determined that it had such authority and modified the award to tax additional costs against the [defendant], favoring [plaintiff]. In district court [plaintiff] moved to confirm the modified award and the [defendant] opposed confirmation of the award as modified, but not the original award. The district court agreed with the [defendant] and vacated the modified award, confirming only the original award.” Id. at 374.

As noted by that court, “[a]rbitration is a matter of contract; a party cannot be

required to submit to arbitration unless it agreed in advance that the dispute would be arbitrated. [Footnote omitted.] Although the law imposes a presumption in favor of arbitrability, the policy that favors resolving doubts in favor of arbitration ‘cannot serve to stretch a contractual clause beyond the scope intended by the parties or authorize an arbiter to disregard or modify the plain and unambiguous provisions of the agreement.’ ” Id. at 374–375.

Indeed “[t]he plain wording of the arbitration agreement contemplates that the arbitrators will not consider correcting the arbitral award at all at the behest of the parties, and forbids a correction or amendment on the arbitrators own motion more than three business days after the award. We conclude that the modification made was beyond the reach of the arbitrators' power. If an arbitral panel exceeds its authority, it provides grounds for a court to vacate that aspect of its decision.” Id. at 375.

Clearly, the Arbitrator exceeded her jurisdiction and erred by issuing a second arbitration award, and the alteration of the October 4, 2023 Arbitration Award was not proper because none of the factors enumerated in either section referenced above applied to these facts. And, as stated, the specific terms of 9 U.S.C. §10(a)(4) require this Court to vacate the second award. If a party, such as Meritage in this matter, demonstrates “one of the infirmities listed in §10 of the [FAA]”, the court must vacate the award. Trident Technical College v. Lucas & Stubbs, Ltd., 286 S.C. 98, 333 S.E.2d 781 (1985).²

The FAA clearly gave the trial court the power to vacate the improper January 23, 2024 second award. Section 10(a)(4) provides that an arbitration award may be vacated when the arbitrator exceeded his/her powers. As this Court noted, the reasons stated by the arbitrator to support the second award did not meet the requirements to modify or correcting the first award; therefore, the arbitrator did not have the power or authority to issue the second award. Similarly, “[t]he permissible

² That case states “The Federal Arbitration Act essentially requires that this Court must ‘uphold the award unless the challenging party demonstrates one of the infirmities listed in § 10 of the Act.’”

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