THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 13 2025

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal Case No.: 2024-001996

Raghu Athimoolam and Irene Athimoolam Respondents,

v.

Meritage Homes of South Carolina Inc. Appellant.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Robert T. Lyles, Jr. (SC Bar No. 10299)
Joseph Daniel Winterstein (SC Bar No. 105344)
Lyles & Associates, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley Blvd., Suite G-100
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 577-7730
rtl@lylesfirm.com
jdw@lylesfirm.com
*Attorneys for Respondents,
Ragu Athimoolam and Irene Athimoolam*

Other Counsel of Record:

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

S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-130 (a). Further, modification of an arbitration award **by the Court** is allowed only when:

1. There was an evident miscalculation of figures or an evident mistake in the description of any person, thing or property referred to in the award;
2. The arbitrators have awarded upon a matter not submitted to them and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the issues submitted; or
3. The award is imperfect in a matter of form, not affecting the merits of the controversy.

S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-140.

No scenario exists for judicial intervention in the Final Award and the trial court properly denied Appellants request. (October 25, 2024, Order (R. pp. 9-18)); (November 6, 2024, Order (R.

pp. 19-22)). Further, the court found the Arbitrator was within her right to receive additional evidence. (October 25, 2024, Order (R. pp. 9-18)); (November 6, 2024, Order (R. pp. 19-22)).

When a dispute is submitted to arbitration, the arbitrator determines questions of both law and fact. *Gissel*, 382, S.C. at, 241. Further, “[C]ourts defer to the arbitral panel both on the merits of the final decision **and on procedural questions that ‘grow out of the dispute,’ even where those questions ‘bear on its final disposition.’**” *Group III Mgmt. v. Suncrete of Carolina, Inc.*, 425 S.C. 141, 819 S.E.2d 781 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *UBS Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 842 F.3d 336, 339 (4th Cir. 2016)) (emphasis supplied). Contrary to Appellant’s contention, an Arbitrator is vested with authority to determine when her award becomes final, after taking up the arguments and evidence she wishes to consider. In this case, the Final Award was her final decision relating to this case, and the trial court correctly agreed.

The trial court correctly ruled it must defer to the arbitrator both on the merits of the final decision and on procedural questions that ‘grow out of the dispute,’ even where those questions ‘bear on its final disposition’.” (October 25, 2024, Order (R. pp. 9-18)); (November 6, 2024, Order (R. pp. 19-22)). Similarly, this Court should not disturb the Arbitrator’s findings. Judicial intervention in this case frustrates the purpose of arbitration and Appellant’s requests must be denied.

B. The Trial Court Properly Found the Arbitrator Had Authority to Reconsider Her Award and There Was No Finality in the Initial Award.

In the Final Award, the Arbitrator specifically found that there was no finality in the Initial Award. (January 23, 2024, Order (R. pp. 180-206)). The trial court correctly held the Arbitrator acted within her scope and there was no finality in the Initial Award (October 25, 2024, Order (R. pp. 9-18)); (November 6, 2024, Order (R. pp. 19-22)). So long as she retained jurisdiction and

ruled on what was in the scope of the arbitration, she was free to reconsider the evidence and law, alter or change her own non-final awards, withdraw them or vacate them.

An arbitrator exceeds his powers and authority when he attempts to resolve an issue that is not arbitrable because it is **outside the scope of the arbitration agreement**. *See, e.g., United Steelworkers of America v. Enterprise Wheel & Car Corp.*, 363 U.S. 593, S. Ct. 1358, 4 L. Ed. (2d) 1424 (1960) (emphasis added). Here, the Arbitrator's Final Award resolved the issue that was submitted to arbitration.

To be clear, at the trial court and again here, Appellant takes the irrational position that the Arbitrator was legally precluded from changing her mind about her decision in response to Respondents' Rule 59 motion, despite still having jurisdiction of the matter. (Appellant's February 2, 2024, Motion (R. pp. 207-355)). In Appellant's view, once the Initial Award was sent to the parties, the die was cast for the Arbitrator. Nothing in any applicable rules provides that. An arbitrator, like a court, is free to consider and reconsider arguments and evidence as long as they have jurisdiction and do so in comportment with applicable rules. (October 25, 2024, Order (R. pp. 9-18)); (November 6, 2024, Order (R. pp. 19-22)). The Appellant also contends that the trial court committed reversible error by not enforcing the Initial Award, which the Arbitrator expressly disavowed and vacated.

To accomplish this objective, Appellant takes the unique position that somehow, in determining this action on the merits, the Arbitrator has exceeded her authority under the arbitration provision and Consent Order of this Court, which was filed on August 30, 2017 (R. pp. 1-3), that specifically orders, and **with the consent of all parties**, all portions of this action "shall proceed to binding arbitration." (August 30, 2017, Order.) (R. pp. 1-3.)

The arbitration agreement, and further, the Consent Order Staying Case and Compelling Arbitration, grants the authority and power to the Arbitrator to decide the merits of this case, including procedural matters “**that ‘grow out of the dispute,’ even where those questions ‘bear on its final disposition’**” *Group III Mgmt.* 425 S.C. 141.

Somehow, after drafting the arbitration agreement, consenting to arbitration in this matter, and being dissatisfied with the result after all facts, testimony, and evidence was properly considered, Appellant wants this Court to conclude that the Arbitrator acted outside the powers and authority granted to her, not only by the trial court, but by the **consent of Appellant**. (August 30, 2017, Order.) (R. pp. 1-3.) To allow this type of argument and position completely undermines the purpose of arbitration and would render arbitration pointless, and the trial court correctly found the Arbitrator acted within her right.

Our courts have consistently held that “Arbitrators do not act as junior varsity trial courts where subsequent appellate review is readily available to the losing party.” *Group III Mgmt.* 425 S.C. 141 (quoting *Remmey v. PaineWebber, Inc.*, 32 F.3d 143, 146 (4th Cir. 1994)). The trial court properly refused to undermine the Arbitrator and act as the “Varsity Team.” This Court should do the same.

Respondents submitted a Motion to Reconsider on October 16, 2023. (October 16, 2024, Motion to Reconsider.) (R. pp. 105-120.) Rather than seeking to confirm the preliminary arbitration award, Appellant continued to engage in the arbitration proceedings, continued to submit motions and memoranda, continued to participate in hearings, and continued to submit and consent to the jurisdiction of arbitration. (Appellant’s October 30, 2023, Memorandum in Opposition.) (R. pp. 121-143.) The continued argument by counsel for Appellant at this juncture that the Arbitrator lacked authority, or lacked jurisdiction, is disingenuous as Appellant’s action

evidence its consent to the Arbitrator’s continued assertion and assumption of its jurisdiction of this matter. Any argument that the arbitrator did not have the power to rule on the very issue submitted to her is devoid of logic and must not be considered by this Court.

Further, the trial court properly distinguished *Smith v. Transport Workers Union of America, AFL-CIO Air Transport Local 556*, 374 F.3d 372 (5th Cir. 2004), and Appellant’s continued reliance on this case warrants a closer review.

In *Smith*, the Fifth Circuit vacated a modified award because **the arbitration agreement “clearly restricts the authority of the arbitrators to amend or correct their award.”** *Id.* The arbitration agreement in *Smith* states that “[t]he arbitrators *sua sponte* may amend or correct their award **within three business days after the award.**” *Id.* Here, there is no contractual agreement that restricts modification of an award; therefore, *Smith* has no bearing and should not be persuasive on this Court. Additionally, there is no “modified award” here. (January 23, 2024, Order (R. pp. 180-206)); (October 25, 2024, Order (R. pp. 9-18)); (November 6, 2024, Order (R. pp. 19-22)).

The trial court properly found there was one final award, and the arbitrator acted within her power and scope.

C. Appellant Continues to Attempt to Improperly Relitigate the Merits of this Case.

Most fundamentally, Appellant simply continues to attempt to relitigate the merits of the case as evidence by its arguments at the trial court and its Initial Brief. A motion to vacate or modify an arbitration award is not a chance to relitigate the underlying merits of a case. *Pittmann Mortg. Co v. Edwards*, 327 S.C. 724 88 S.E.2.d 335 (1997), *see also Trident Technical College, supra*. Similarly, an appeal is not an appropriate venue to relitigate the merits of the case.

As evidenced in Appellant’s improper and misleading Motion to Vacate the January 23, 2024, Arbitration Award and Motion to Reinstate the October 4, 2023, Arbitration Award, Appellant sought to use that Motion and the trial court to improperly relitigate the merits of this case. (February 2, 2024, Motion.) (R. pp. 207-355.) Appellant continues to make numerous arguments and references to the underlying evidence that was submitted to the Arbitrator (which Respondents contend mischaracterizes the testimony and evidence the Arbitrator heard and considered) and continues to argue that the Arbitrator was wrong in the conclusions reached in the Final Award, which is simply not permitted. ““A party may not attempt to relitigate the merits of the arbitrator’s resolution of the arbitrable issues under the guise of questioning the arbitrators’ power. *Id.*;”” *Trident Technical College, supra*.

Just like the *Trident Technical College* Court held, here:

[c]learly, [Appellant] is attempting to relitigate the merits of the arbitration panel's resolution of concededly arbitrable issues under the guise of questioning the panel's power and authority; **this is not proper**. *Amoco Oil Co. v. Oil, Chem. & Atomic Workers Internat. Union*, 548 F. (2d) 1288 (7th Cir. 1977), *cert. denied*, 431 U.S. 905 (1977). Even assuming *arguendo* that the award misconstrued the contracts, this would not constitute an abuse of the arbitrators' power under 9 U.S.C. § 10(d). *National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Chesapeake & O. Ry. Co.*, 551 F. (2d) 136 (7th Cir. 1977) (emphasis added).

Not only is it not proper to consider these arguments at all, but especially so in this instance, where there is no record of the arbitration proceedings. Without a record, Appellant relies on its counsel’s recollection of the testimony and evidence and treats counsel’s arguments as evidence. (February 2, 2024, Motion.) (R. pp. 207-355.) Appellant does not and cannot cite to any testimony or evidence in the record presented at the arbitration. Argument of counsel cannot be considered. This is not proper evidence and must be ignored. Appellant’s attempts to cite to the record are nothing more than cites to previous arguments and narratives of Appellant’s counsel. *See Trivelas*

v. S.C. DOT, 348 S.C. 125, 558 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2001) (Howard, J., concurring) (“it is an error of law to base a decision on “deposition testimonies as presented in the arguments of counsel,” as was done in this case, unless copies of the deposition testimony are properly filed in the record or the parties have stipulated to the facts.)(internal citations omitted)

Appellant must not be allowed to use this appeal to improperly relitigate the merits of this case and the trial court correctly denied its Motion.

III. The Trial Court Correctly Denied Appellant’s Request for Sanctions.

The trial court correctly ruled when it refused to impose sanctions on Respondents. (November 6, 2024, Order.) (R. pp. 19-22.) Appellant continues to wrongfully assert that disclosure by Respondents of Appellant’s settlements with its Subcontractor Defendants, is a violation of the South Carolina Rules of ADR, and is worthy of sanctions. Appellant’s logic is misguided and non-sensical, and the trial court correctly refused to award sanctions. In making that argument, Appellants wrongly conflates protected settlement discussions (of which Respondents were not even a party and did not disclose) with the non-protected final settlement terms (which Respondents gratuitously received when the settlement between Appellant and its subcontractors was final).

As evidenced by the pleadings, Appellant brought third-party claims against its Subcontractor Defendants. Respondents did not bring any direct actions against any party other than Meritage (*see generally*, Amend. Compl.). (R. pp. 29-34.) Appellant settled its claims with its Subcontractor Defendants, executed the Settlement Agreement (the terms of which Appellant likely drafted and unquestionably agreed to) and filed a Stipulation of Dismissal (July 12, 2023, Stipulation of Dismissal). (R. pp. 76-80.)

Respondents brought no direct claims against the Subcontractor Defendants and were not a party to the Settlement Agreement or the negotiations leading to the settlement between Appellant and its subcontractors. Respondents received **nothing** from that settlement. (Exhibit 3 to Respondents March 20, 2024, Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Vacate). (R. pp. 423-430.)

The dismissal of Appellant’s claims against its Subcontractor Defendants is a matter of public record and the Settlement Agreement does not contain any confidentiality provision (which would not be binding on Respondents even if it were, since Respondents were not parties to that agreement). (July 12, 2023, Stipulation of Dismissal.) (R. pp. 76-80.)

“Rule 8 is designed to protect the communications **made during the mediation itself** and to protect the process . . . Further, any confidential matters the parties do not want disclosed can be protected through court proceedings including confidentiality provisions.” *Huck v. Oakland Wings, LLC*, No. 5500, 2018 S.C. App. LEXIS 22 (Ct. App. Mar 28, 2018) (emphasis added). Had Appellant wanted to conceal the settlement terms, it could have done so and could have made Respondents parties to that agreement in exchange for some valid consideration, none of which occurred. Further, Appellant could have taken steps to ensure that its non-confidential settlement agreement was not provided to Respondents.

All information disclosed by Respondents is discoverable, and disclosure of that information is neither improper nor sanctionable. If the settlement terms were not relevant or admissible, that is a decision that was within the authority of the Arbitrator to decide, which she did. (Finding, in her Final Order, the following relative to the information regarding the settlement: “[a]t no time during the Arbitration was the Arbitrator aware of any monetary recovery by defendant Meritage against any subcontractors brought in as third-party defendants. Accordingly,

this Order will only reflect the testimony of lay and expert witnesses and evidence presented during arbitration and an analysis of the applicable law.” (January 23, 2024, Final Award at p. 2.) (R. p. 181.) The trial court correctly noted that no consideration was given to this information.

Not only that, but it is also common practice for a court (in both jury and nonjury matters), or an arbitrator (like in the present matter), to know of settlements between parties in a case to consider set-off, contribution and other similar issues. In addition, in appropriate circumstances, attorneys routinely tell not just courts, but juries, that certain parties to litigation have settled in order to make what is commonly referred to as “empty chair” arguments. None of Respondents’ actions violated any ADR Rule. If sanctions, should be imposed, they should be imposed on Appellants for making an obviously fallacious argument, not once but twice.

As noted above, the Arbitrator expressly held that she did not consider the settlement evidence. (January 23, 2024, Final Award.) (R. pp. 180-206.) Thus, even if the provision of the non-confidential settlement information to the Arbitrator was error, which Respondents deny, it is well settled that South Carolina Courts shall disregard harmless errors. *See* Rule 61, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (“No error in either the admission or exclusion of evidence and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting a new trial or for setting aside a verdict or for vacating, modifying or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.”)

CONCLUSION

In sum, the trial court properly found the Arbitrator was within her right to reconsider her award. Appellant presents no compelling evidence or argument that the Arbitrator ruled on

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